A.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.   The trial court erred in sentencing Daren Morales for 

child molestation in the first degree, where the jury verdict declared 

him guilty of child molestation in the second degree. 

2.   The trial court erred in changing the jury’s verdict under 

the guise of correcting a clerical error. 

3. The trial court’s decision to sentence Mr. Morales for an 

offense different than what the jury declared him guilty of violated Mr. 

Morales’ constitutional right of trial by jury under the Sixth 

Amendment and Art. I, Sec. 21. 

4.  The trial court erred in keeping Mr. Morales’ expert 

witness from testifying that the shoddy way in which the police 

interviewed the complainant prevented the expert from evaluating 

whether what the child spoke about represented a real memory.  

5.  The trial court erred in excluding this expert witness 

testimony as misleading and confusing to the jury. 

6.  The trial court’s order keeping the expert’s complete 

forensic opinions from the jury denied Mr. Morales his right to present 

a defense under the Sixth Amendment and his right to due process 

under the Fourteenth Amendment. 
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B.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The Washington State Constitution provides that “[t]he right 

of trial by jury shall remain inviolate....” Art. I, Sec. 21. Even if it 

appears to be inconsistent or the product of mistake, a jury’s verdict is 

unimpeachable, and a sentencing judge is strictly bound by the jury's 

finding. Here, the verdict expressed in writing and confirmed on the 

record to be the collective and individual judgment of the twelve jurors, 

declared Daren Morales guilty of child molestation in the second 

degree. CP 131 (attached as Appendix A); 8RP 93. 

In ruling that it was correcting a clerical error when it handed 

down a sentence for the crime of child molestation in the first degree – 

the charge pressed against Mr. Morales – did the trial court violate Mr. 

Morales’ constitutional right to a jury trial? Should the sentence be set 

aside because the jury’s verdict does not support it? 

2.  As a part of the right to present a defense under the Sixth and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the 

defendant has the right to present relevant, admissible evidence on his 

behalf. As emphasized in State v. Jones,1 relevant evidence offered by 

                                            
1 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). 
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the accused can only be excluded if the State establishes that it is so 

prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the trial fact-finding process.  

 Here, relying on general ER 702 concerns about misleading or 

confusing the jury, the trial court barred a renowned forensic expert 

from testifying that the faulty manner in which the police interviewed 

the complainant took away the expert’s ability to determine whether 

what the child said had the features of a real memory.   

Did the limits placed by the trial court on the defense expert’s 

testimony prevent Mr. Morales from presenting a defense, thus entitling 

him to reversal of his conviction? 

C.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1.  The filed “first degree” child sexual assault charges. 

This appeal follows the prosecution of Daren Morales in King 

County Superior Court on charges of rape of a child in the first degree 

and child molestation in the first degree, naming his niece G.C. (DOB 

7/8/01) as the complainant. CP 6-7. The State alleged December 1, 

2012, to April 30, 2013, as the charging period. CP 6-7.  

2.  First the mother’s threat, then the ensuing accusations. 

G.C. was seven years old when she moved to the United States 

from the Philippines with her mother Vanessa Medrano and younger 
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sister. 3RP 87; 6RP 149.2 The three of them shared a room in 

Vanessa’s3 father’s house on Angel Place in Seattle. 3RP 89; 6RP 150-

51. 

Daren Morales is Vanessa’s first cousin and he periodically 

lived at the same Angel Place home. 3RP 77, 94; 5RP 132-34; 6RP 97-

98.4 Between 2008 and 2011, he would stay there but go back and forth 

to the Philippines to visit his own wife and children. 4RP 42. Daren 

returned to Angel Place in December of 2012. 3RP 96; 4RP 7-8. At 

Vanessa’s request, he helped look after his nieces when she was at 

work. 3RP 80, 92-93; 4RP 47; 6RP 100-03. At times, he put the girls to 

bed when Vanessa was not there. 3RP 98; 6RP 156. At the end of April 

                                            
2 The references to multiple volumes of the record track how the court reporter 

grouped the record: 
  
1RP 9/17/14 + 11/4/14 + 11/5/14 + 11/6/14 +11/10/14 
2RP 11/12/14 
3RP 11/13/14 
4RP 11/17/14 
5RP 11/18/14 
6RP 11/19/14 
7RP 11/20/14 
8RP 11/21/14 + 11/24/14 
 
3 For clarity, with no disrespect intended, first names of members of the 

Morales/Modrano family are used herein. 
  
4 The grandfather David Medrano lived there, with his mother Estella, and ex-

wife Zenaida, 5RP 146. 
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2013, Daren again returned to the Philippines to be with his immediate 

family.5 3RP 81.  

Daren’s older niece, G.C., had been bullied in middle school, 

was known to take out her anger on her mother, and generally had “a 

really bad attitude.” 3RP 86, 101; 4RP 45; 6RP 138, 140; 7RP 10-11. 

These anger outbursts began before Daren started taking care of G.C. 

4RP 44. To help manage the anger issues, G.C. was sent to mental 

health counseling. 4RP 33-34, 41, 83. 

Vanessa testified that not long before Daren returned to the 

Philippines in April of 2013, she saw him leaning over G.C. as he was 

putting her to bed. 3RP 104-05; 5RP 26. He had bent down and hugged 

G.C. 5RP 23. His hand was near G.C.’s shoulder area. 5RP 24-25. 

Vanessa was uncomfortable. 3RP 105. She asked Daren about what she 

saw and he told her he had done nothing. 3RP 105; 4RP 10-11.  

G.C. had a Skype account her family used to talk to relatives in 

the Philippines. 4RP 18-19. Vanessa knew that G.C. and Daren kept in 

touch via Skype after he left. 3RP 108-09. In May of 2013, she saw a 

message between G.C. and her uncle she found concerning. 4RP 13.6 

                                            
5 Vanessa testified Daren’s leaving was unrelated to the case. 5RP 29. 
 
6 In the message, G.C. referred to Daren as “boyfriend.” CP 10. 
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She confronted her eleven-year-old child about the message. 4RP 21-

22, 29. Vanessa’s feelings were hurt and she cried. 4RP 22-23, 26.  

At first, G.C. denied her mother’s suggestion that something 

inappropriate had happened with her uncle, so Vanessa decided she had 

to convince G.C. to talk. 5RP 29-31. Vanessa threatened G.C. that she 

would leave her in the United States and not return. 5RP 31-34, 49; 

7RP 88. They talked for half an hour, Vanessa tried to “sweet-talk” 

G.C., but her daughter “was still not admitting” that anything had 

happened between her and Daren. 4RP 27; 5RP34. Vanessa repeatedly 

asked G.C. if Daren had touched her breasts or private parts. 5RP34-35.  

G.C. does not like it when Vanessa gets mad. 7RP 76. G.C. 

would fear her mother leaving her and never coming back. 7RP 76. At 

trial, G.C. remembered that her mother asked “a lot” about her uncle 

touching her. 7RP 87-88. She also remembered that her mother 

threatened her in these conversations. 7RP 88. G.C. gave in and told 

Vanessa that Daren had touched her breasts. 5RP 30.  

Vanessa then took G.C. to a series of other people to have her 

talk about her uncle. Each of them testified at trial about the bits and 

pieces of what G.C. said out-of-court and the common thread in these 

declarations was that G.C., while consistently reluctant to talk about her 
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older uncle, was reporting having been sexually assaulted by him. 

These reports varied in terms of when, where, and how she said this 

allegedly occurred. 

Vanessa first brought G.C. to her mental health counselor, 

Claire Deleon. Before G.C. spoke for herself, Vanessa “explained” 

what her daughter had said, for approximately half an hour. 4RP 33, 36, 

69-71; 5RP 42; 4RP 67. The counselor observed that “when [the 

counselor] ask[s] questions, [G.C.] always look[s] at mom to answer.” 

4RP 68, 87. At first, the counselor did not speak with G.C. directly and 

had G.C. and Vanessa return. 4RP 72, 86. When they did talk, G.C. 

remained “very clingy with mom,” and Vanessa stayed in the room. 

4RP 73-74. G.C. remained quiet and relied on her mother to talk to the 

counselor. 4RP 75-76. When the mother cried, G.C. would respond. 

4RP 76-77. The counselor heard G.C. accuse Daren of touching her.7  

4RP 89. The counselor then took the family – including grandfather 

David – to a police station. 4RP 78, 80.  

                                            
  7 Later during the trial, a different State’s witness, pediatrician Dr. Rebecca 
Wiester, testified that the standard practice for sexual assault centers is to interview a 
child away from a parent. 5RP 66. Dr. Wiester also testified that questions should be 
open-ended, not suggestive, and that a non-talkative child should not be threatened. There 
should be no “implying danger if things aren’t, you know, talked about.” 5RP 67. 
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At the precinct, also in an unrecorded meeting, Officer Sylvia 

Parker spoke with the Medrano family. 7RP 97-98, 108. The trial court 

allowed Officer Parker to testify that G.C. said “she had been touched 

on her breasts and her genitals by her uncle” and also that “he had told 

her that he had a gun and was threatening to kill her family if she didn’t 

do what he wanted her to.” 7RP 112.8  

Next, Detective Roger Ishimitsu spoke with G.C., who made the 

decision to interview the child on his own, rather than use the available 

forensic child interviewer. 6RP 15, 52, 85. G.C. seemed “very quiet and 

shy” and stayed that way as the detective spoke with her. 6RP 19, 23. 

G.C. told him about two incidents involving her uncle. 6RP 58, 68-71. 

G.C. could not remember the first and only said she thought Daren 

touched her after the detective asked her directly if he had done that. 

6RP 59. G.C. told the detective she was sitting – not laying down as 

reported earlier – during one of the incidents and even agreed with the 

detective’s suggestion as to how she was sitting. 6RP 61-63. The 

detective acknowledged that he led the child in the interview. 6RP 79. 

                                            
8 The record does not specify why the trial court overruled contemporaneous 

defense objections as to hearsay. The trial court may have been treating these statements 
as “prior consistent statements,” and thus non-hearsay under ER 801(d)(1)(ii).  
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Last, G.C.’s family took her to see Dr. Rebecca Wiester. 5RP 

60, 88-89. Vanessa told the physician that Daren had attempted penile 

penetration, but that is not what G.C. said to the doctor. 5RP 90, 117. 

Likewise, Vanessa said Daron had scared G.C. with a knife, but G.C. 

did not endorse that either. 5RP 90, 117. Dr. Wiester observed that 

G.C. was reluctant and needed help talking. 5RP 122.  

At trial, G.C. testified that her uncle once told her to undress, 

undressed himself, and then told her to touch him. 7RP 14-18.9 She 

testified she ran out and locked herself in the bathroom where she fell 

asleep. 7RP 17. She testified there was a different time when her uncle 

was putting her and her younger sister to sleep and touched her breasts, 

stomach, and vagina. 7RP 20-25. G.C. testified her mother came in and 

told him to go, yet she did not talk to her mother or sister about it. 7RP 

26, 29-31.10 Finally, G.C. claimed that once, at her grandfather’s house, 

Daren “threatened [her] with a gun.” 7RP 54. She testified her uncle 

literally put a “black gun” to her head. 7RP 54-56.  

In advance of trial, G.C. had not claimed to having had a gun 

put to her head, but only that Daren talked about a gun. 5RP 106, 147, 

                                            
9 G.C.’s full testimony is at 6RP 147-57 and 7RP 7-90. 

10 G.C. also claimed in court that Daren tried to put his penis in her. 7RP 69. In 
a pretrial defense interview, she said that never happened. 7RP 131-32. 
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7RP 112. Notably, the grandfather never saw Daren with a gun, and the 

police found no evidence that Daren, who cooperated with the police,11 

ever had a gun. 5RP 147; 6RP 77-78. G.C. testified this was a recent 

memory which she had forgotten when talking to Dr. Wiester and 

Detective Ishimitsu. 7RP 72.  

3.  Limits on defense expert testimony. 
 
At trial, Mr. Morales presented expert witness testimony from 

forensic psychologist Dr. John Yuille. 2RP 19-95; 3RP 25-72. Dr. 

Yuille has 50 years expertise researching memory and is an expert in 

proper child witness interviewing techniques. 2RP 20-25. Pretrial, the 

State conceded Dr. Yuille is a qualified expert and uses an approach 

generally accepted within the scientific community, but challenged the 

admissibility of Dr. Yuille’s opinions regarding the police interview 

with G.C. as improper opinion as to credibility. 1RP 167; CP 41-56. 

In an offer of proof, Dr. Yuille explained that research has 

shown that “there are certain qualities to memories that are based on 

experience that are much less likely to be found in memories that are 

based on invention or coaching.” 1RP 128. He, and others, use a 

                                            
11 Daren did not testify at trial and the State did not use his statement to the 

police in its case. 
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“content based criteria analysis” to determine whether a particular 

statement has the features of a real memory. 1RP 128-34. Dr. Yuille 

explained that a poorly done interview may not produce sufficient 

detail necessary to allow an evaluator like himself to assess whether the 

memory is based on an actual experience of the speaker. RP 131-35. 

With a badly done interview, the child’s assertions “may not be a 

memory based on experience or that the child wasn’t given an 

opportunity to provide these qualities.” 1RP 135, 138. 

 In Dr. Yuille’s opinion, Detective Ishimitsu’s interview of G.C. 

lacked detail and was of such poor quality that he could not apply the 

content based content analysis to assess whether what G.C. was 

recorded saying referred to a memory based on experience. 1RP 139; 

CP 48-55. The trial court excluded this expert opinion testimony, 

ordering that Dr. Yuille “will not be allowed to testify about his 

conclusion[:] It is not possible to assess the credibility of the child’s 

allegation based upon such a poor-quality interview… A non-

conclusion is not helpful to the trier of fact.” 1RP 167-75 (excluding 

testimony relating to pages 3 through 8 of Dr. Yuille’s report, located at 

CP 48-55).    
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4.  Jury declares its verdict and the trial court changes it. 

After deliberation on the evidence surrounding the accusations, 

the jury declared Daren not guilty of the crime of rape of a child in the 

first degree. 8RP 93; CP 130. The jury declared him guilty of the crime 

of child molestation in the second degree. 8RP 93; CP 131. (This was 

not a proposed lesser-included offense, but that is how the verdict form 

given to the jury is written.) The twelve jurors were polled and each 

confirmed this was their individual – and collective – verdict. 8RP 93-

96. They were thanked and dismissed. 8RP 98. 

Prior to sentencing, defense pointed out the fact that the jury 

declared Daren guilty of child molestation in the second degree and 

moved for a new trial under CrR 7.5. CP 132-36. The State requested 

that the trial court rely on CrR 7.8(a) and alter the jury’s verdict as a 

“clerical mistake.” CP 162-64. The trial court agreed with the State and 

“corrected” the jury’s verdict. CP 165-66; 8RP 105-11. The first page 

of the judgment and sentence indicates that Daren “was found guilty on 

11/24/2014 by Jury Verdict of: Count No. II Child Molestation in the 

First Degree,” while the actual verdict form declares him guilty “of the 

crime of Child Molestation in the Second Degree as charged in Count 

II.” CP 150, 131. (Appendix A.) This timely appeal followed. 
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D.  ARGUMENT 

1. In sentencing Mr. Morales for child 
molestation in the first degree – where the jury 
entered a guilty verdict on child molestation in 
the second degree – the trial court violated his 
constitutional right to a jury trial. 

 
a. The constitutional right to a trial by jury is 

inviolate. 
 

The Washington State Constitution provides that “[t]he right of 

trial by jury shall remain inviolate....” Art. I, Sec. 21. “The term 

‘inviolate’ connotes deserving of the highest protection” and “indicates 

that the right must remain the essential component of our legal system 

that it has always been.” Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 288-89, 351 

P.3d 862 (2015) quoting Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 

656, 771 P.2d 711, 780 P.2d 260 (1989). The constitutional right of 

trial by jury “must not diminish over time and must be protected from 

all assaults to its essential guaranties.” Id. “The right to a jury trial may 

not be impaired by either legislative or judicial action.” Geschwind v. 

Flanagan, 121 Wn.2d 833, 840, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993) citing Brandon 

v. Webb, 23 Wn.2d 155, 159, 160 P.2d 529 (1945). 

The “right to have a jury make the ultimate determination of 

guilt has an impressive pedigree.” United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 

506, 510, 115 S. Ct. 2310, 132 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1995). This right was 
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designed “to guard against a spirit of oppression and tyranny on the 

part of rulers,” and “was from very early times insisted on by our 

ancestors in the parent country, as the great bulwark of their civil and 

political liberties.” 2 J. Story, Commentaries on the Constitution of the 

United States 540-41, (4th ed. 1873). See also Duncan v. 

Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 151–154, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d 491 

(1968) (tracing the history of trial by jury). 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

guarantees that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy 

the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury.” U.S. Const. 

VI. “In some circumstances, our state constitution provides greater 

protection for jury trials than the federal constitution.” State v. 

Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 896, 225 P.3d 913 (2010), citing to 

State v. Smith, 150 Wn.2d 135, 151, 75 P.3d 934 (2003) and City of 

Pasco v. Mace, 98 Wn.2d 87, 99, 653 P.2d 618 (1982). “[U]nder both 

the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, 

sections 21 and 22 of the Washington Constitution, the jury trial right 

requires that a sentence be authorized by the jury’s verdict.” Williams-

Walker, at 896 (reversing a sentence for a firearm enhancement where 

the jury returned a special verdict as to a deadly weapon only). 



 15 

b. Even when a verdict seems to be inconsistent, or 
based on mistake or nullification, judicial review 
is limited to determining whether sufficient 
evidence supports it. 

 
A jury verdict is not subject to challenge even if it appears 

erroneous: 

That the verdict may have been the result of compromise, or of a 
mistake on the part of the jury, is possible. But verdicts cannot 
be upset by speculation or inquiry into such matters. 
 

Dunn v. United States, 284 U.S. 390, 394, 52 S. Ct. 189, 76 L. Ed. 356 

(1932). 

“As a general rule, appellate courts are reluctant to inquire into 

how a jury arrives at its verdict.” State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117, 

866 P.2d 631 (1994). “The individual or collective thought processes 

leading to a verdict ‘inhere in the verdict’ and cannot be used to 

impeach a jury verdict.” State v. Ng, 110 Wn.2d 32, 43, 750 P.2d 632 

(1988) citing State v. Crowell, 92 Wn.2d 143, 594 P.2d 905 (1979); 

State v. McKenzie, 56 Wn.2d 897, 355 P.2d 834 (1960); Gardner v. 

Malone, 60 Wn.2d 836, 376 P.2d 651 (1962). 

Neither the State nor the defense is allowed to attack a verdict 

with a claim that it appears at odds with the evidence or instructions: 

“Inconsistent verdicts therefore present a situation where ‘error,’ in the 

sense that the jury has not followed the court’s instructions, most 
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certainly has occurred, but it is unclear whose ox has been gored.” 

United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 57, 65, 105 S. Ct. 471, 83 L. Ed. 2d 

461 (1984). The Double Jeopardy Clause prevents the State from 

making an attempt to change such a verdict. Id., citing Green v. United 

States, 355 U.S. 184, 188, 78 S.Ct. 221, 2 L.Ed.2d 199 (1957); Kepner 

v. United States, 195 U.S. 100, 130, 133, 24 S.Ct. 797, 49 L.Ed. 114 

(1904). Review of inconsistent verdicts at the defendant’s behest is 

likewise inappropriate because such verdict “inconsistencies often are a 

product of jury lenity.” Powell, 469 U.S. at 65. 

Washington appellate courts follow Dunn and Powell and “do 

not further assess inconsistencies that are unexplained and/or produced 

by jury lenity, mistake, or nullification.” State v. Wilson, 113 Wn. App. 

122, 134, 52 P.3d 545 (2002). This is a firm rule: “We refrain from 

second-guessing the jury where lenity provides a plausible explanation 

for the inconsistency.” State v. Goins, 151 Wn.2d 728, 735, 92 P.3d 

181 (2004). “[T]he very nature of inconsistent verdicts is that they are

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