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

age-appropriate language), and identifies the "Step-wise Interview"

method developed by Dr. Yuille.

The second section, which would become the subject of the State's

motion in limine, discusses a method employed by Dr. Yuille called

"Statement Analysis" or "statement Validity Analysis," to evaluate the

credibility of a child's statement. "Credibility,",according to Yuille's

formulation, "refers to the degree to which an allegation has the features

of an actual experience." CP 50. "The assessment aspects of Statement

Analysis consist of two stages: 1) An evaluation of the content of the

child's statement; and 2) an assessment of all other aspects of the evidence

in the case." CP 51. Assessing a child's credibility by Statement Analysis

involves evaluating the statement for 24 criteria, eve of which must be

present for a statement to be deemed credible. CP 52.

Regarding his work on this case, Dr. Yuille evaluated the audio

recorded interview of G.C. conducted by Detective Ishimitsu and opined;

[The detective] explained the interview rules to the child

and used a leading question to get her to promise to tell the

truth. The child then stated that her uncle had touched her.

The rest of the interview is of poor quality: the officer

displayed no structure or plan for the interview; ~iis

questions were narrow and often leading. The child was

never given an opportunity to tell her version of events.
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CP 54. Dr. Yuille's ultimate opinions were phrased as follows:

CP 55.

In effect, the officer provided the child with his
version of the alleged event and asked her to confirm or
disconfirm his version. He never asks her to tell him what

happened.
It is not possible to assess the credibility of the

child's allegation based upon such a poor quality interview.

Credibility assessment requires the child's version of the

event and she was never given an opportunity to provide

her version.

The State filed a pretrial motion to exclude or limit the testimony

of Dr. Yuille. After an offer of proof made by the testimony of Dr. Yuille,

the trial court entered an order allowing but limiting Yuille's trial

testimony.

I will permit Dr. Yuille to testify based upon his Aug~.ist 19,

2014 report as to what he was specifically asked to do, the

materials he reviewed, the Step-Wise Interview Program.

Everything involving evaluating the credibility of a child's

allegations, starting on Page 3 and ending on Page 6 is

excluded.
I would note that he did not do most of what he

outlines in this section in this particular case because he

was unable to do so, therefore, its applicability and

relevance is nil. As well, credibility being a term of art is

misleading even with an explanation from the doctor

remains, misleading. It is inconsistent with jury instructions

as to their determination of credibility. There is nothing to

say that inconsistencies and statements require expertise.

There are inconsistent statements made by pretty much

every witness that has ever testified, and no expert is

necessary for the jury to identify an inconsistent statement.

You may discuss his qualifications, and he may

discuss and testify to his evaluation of the interview of GC
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and his conclusion about Detective Ishimitsu's interview
technique.

He will not be allowed to testify about his
conclusion. It is not possible to assess the credibility of a
child's allegation based upon such apoor-quality interview.

He was not able to complete the testing that he himself

required, the second level, as he indicated, because of the
poor-quality interview. A nonconclusion is not helpful to

the trier of fact.

RP 169-70.

At trial, after establishing his credentials, Morales' attorney

elicited a number of opinions from Dr. Yuille, including:

• Memory is a reconstructive process, which allows for the

possibility of memories changing over time due to interpretation or

the subject gaining information about an event from some outside

source. RP 30-31.

• A person may have a memory of an event that never occurred, a

phenomenon called a "created memory." RP 31. The subject is

not aware that the event did not actually occur. RP 35.

• In an investigative interview it is important to use "open, broad,

questions." RP 36.

Dr. Yuille testified that he developed the "Step-wise" appioach to

conducting child intervie~~s. RP 3 8. He testified that the Step-wise

approach has been adopted by law enforcement agencies in every province

in Canada, a number of stages in the U.S., and in a~her locations around the
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world. RP 41. Yuille testified that when he assesses child interviews he

approaches the task in two ways: he uses the Step-wise approach in

looking at the "quality of the interview," and a method called Statement

Validity Analysis. RP 44. Over the State's objections, Dr. Yuille was

allowed to discuss where and when Statement Validity Analysis vas

developed. RP 45-46. The court then sustained the State's objection to a

question about research and field testing related to Statement Validity

Analysis. RF 46. In the ensuing discussion outside the presence of the

jury, Judge Thorp explained and clarified her rulings on the limitations to

Dr. Yuille's testimony.

My order said that Dr. Yuille could testify about the
research he did in creating his Step-Wise Protocol, which
includes the two steps which Dr. Yuille has already
testified to

My ruling said that he would have a limited ability

to testify about Subpart 2, Statement Analysis, because that

is not admitted before the jury and its relevance is limited

as such.
The question of whether getting into the details of

the research and the field-testing of Statement Validity
Analysis is sustained because the jury will not hear about it.

It did not get applied to this case. It doesn't have relevance
because there was no conclusion for that.

I overruled the objections about Dr. Yuille's
involvement with fornaulating the Step-Wise Protocol
which includes as Step 2 Statement Validity Analysis, what

his involvement is.
The jury will not hear the nonconclusion even

though it was alluded to in opening. The jury will not hear

any analysis about GC's statements done by Dr. Yuille
because there is no conclusion. So testimony, much less
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extensive testimony; about the level and degree of research

and field-testing is not relevant. I was very clear in my

ruling [ ]last week that any testimony from these pages [of

Dr. Yuille's reports would be limited at most and solely for

the purpose of explaining the Step-Wise Protocol in its

entirety.
Statement F~nalysis is a component of Step-Vise

Protocol Guidelines and was only admissible under my

ruling for that purpose.

RP 50-51.

The court made it clear that Dr. Yuille was ~ilowed to testify about

the hazards of a poorly dove child interview in ge :eral, and give his

opinion that the interview in this case was poor.

.. ~

There is nothing that limits Dr. Yuille's testimony that a

poor child intervie~.~ affects memory, ability to recall, that

there's no cure for it, and that is based on created

memories.

Dr. Yuille can testify that the ramifications of a

poor interview are ~~ontamination that cannot. be corrected

in subsequent inter~~iews. My understanding is fir. Yuille

cannot reach that conclusion in regards to [GC) much less

any conclusion in regards to that.
But there is no dispute that Dr. Yuiile can testify

that he cannot cure a bad interview, that a bad interview

occurred here, and ghat based upon memory there is no way

to know. But he ca7not testify that GC's memories were --

that he can conclude that they were in fact impermissibly

tainted'because he said so himself that he could not do so.

RP 56-57.
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The court also held that Morales could elicit testimony from

Dr. Yuille regarding the 24 criteria that are associated with Statement

Validity Analysis, and that he could identify what was missing from

C.G.'s statement so long as it didn't address credibility, truth, or validity.

RP 58-59.

When testimony resumed, Morales elicited the following from

Dr. Yuille:

• Stafement Validity Analysis involves the assessment of 24 criteria,

five of which must be present for a statement to be considered

consistent with memories. RP 65. Those five key criteria are:

overall coherence; spontaneity; an appropriate amount of detail

considering the age of the child and the nature of the event that

occurred; that the statement of the incident has context relating to

other everyday experiences; and, that the statement includes a

description of the interaction, i.e., "who did what to who." RP 66.

• Detective Ishimitsu's interview of G.C. was "a poor quality

interview of a child" because it had no structure. or organization,

and, "most importantly," it was "characterized by the use of

leading and suggestive questions." RP 68-69.

• Leading questions are "problematic" because they supply

information to the witness and create a risk of changing the
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witness's memory because of the incorporation of the supplied

information. RP 7Q-71.

• Once contamination of a memory by a leading question occurs it

cannot be reversed or cured. RP 71.

• Dr. Yuille identified several questions by Det. Ishimitsu to G.C.

that were in his opinion leading. RP 73-74.

• He opined that Det. Ishimitsu did not give G.C. a sufficient

opportunity to provide her own version of events. RP 75-76.

• The defense interview that was conducted after Det. Ishimitsu's

interview was of high quality, but that later. high-quality interview

could not cure any problems of contaminated memories that may

have occurred in the first poor-quality interview by the detective.

b. The Trial Court Did Not Err By Excluding
Dr. Yuille's Nonconclusion As Being Unhelpful
To The Trier Of Fact.

A trial court's decision to exclude expert testimony is reviewed for

an abuse of discretion. State v. Willis, 151 Wn.2d 255, 262, 87 P.3d 1164

(2004) (citing State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 655, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)).

Admissibility of expert testimony depends on whether "(1) the witness

qualifies as an expert, (2) the opinion is based upon an explanatory theory

generally accepted in the scientific community, and (3) the expert
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testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact." Swan, 114 Wn.2d at 655

(quoting State v. Allerv, 101 Wn.2d 591, 596, 682 P.2d 312 (1984)). A

trial court abuses its discretion only when no reasonable judge would have

reached the same conclusion. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278

P.3d 653 (2012).

Here, the trial court found that the first two prongs of the ER 702

test were satisfied, thus only the third issue, helpfulness of the excluded

testimony to the jury, is at issue. In State v. Willis, supra, a case factually

similar to the case at bar, tre supreme court upheld the trial court's

exclusion of the same type of testimony by the same expert, Dr. Yuille. In

Willis, the defendant was convicted of two counts of first degree rape of a

child for his offenses against five-year-old COB., the daughter of Willis's

girlfriend. Willis, 114 Wn.2d at 257-58. During the course of the

investigation COB. was interviewed multiple times. Id. at 258-59. The

defense sought to have Dr. Yuille testify on the potential effect of the

interview techniques used on C.B.'s memory. Id. at 259.

Dr. Yuille, the defense's expert, is a professor at the

University of British Columbia. He has developed a system

for interviewing children called the "Step ~Vay Protocol,"

that, according to him, is followed in five states and

numerous countries. He offered to testify on the potential

effect of the interview techniques used on C.B.'s memory.
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Id. at 259. The State moved to exclude Dr. Yuille's testimony under

Evidence Rule (ER) 702, arguing that it would not be helpful to the jury

and was precluded by the supreme court's holding in Swan. Id, at 260.

In Willis, the supreme court began by clarifying that its holding in

Swan was not a bar to all expert testimony on child interview techniques

and suggestibility. Willis, at 261. Rather, a case by case inquiry pursuant

to ER 702 is required. Id. at 262. The court did state, however, "we hew

to our conclusion in Swan that the general principle that younger children

are snore susceptible to suggestion is ̀ well within the understanding of the

jury."' Willis, at 261 (quoting Swan, 114 Wn.2d at 656). The Willis court

characterized Yuille's proposed testimony, based on an offer of proof, as

follows:

Based upon the near-verbatim report of Farrell's (a child

interview specialist for the King County Prosecutor's

Office) first inkerview with C.B,, Dr. Yuille provided a
critique of the interview. He opined that the interview was

poorly done for several reasons, including the use of

leading questions, the failure to follow up on
inconsistencies, and the failure of the child to provide

details not supplied by the interviewer. Additionally,
Dr. Yuille criticized Farrell for not assessing C.B.'s ability
to describe some past event that was not related to the
abuse. He noted the importance of such a step for the
purpose of determining how much detail and of what

quality of detail the child is capable of independently

recollecting.
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Willis, at 262-63. The court noted that although Yuille's proposed

testimony was generally negative concerning the victim interview,

"Dr. Yuille did not offer to testify that [the victim's] memory or ability to

independently recall the events were compromised because of the

interviewing techniques utilized." Willis, at 263. The supreme court held

that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Dr. Yuille's

testimony because it would have been unhelpful to the trier of fact. Id. at

260, 264.

Whereas in Willis Dr. Yuille's proposed testimony was entirely

excluded, in t1~e case at bar the trial court allowed Yuille to testify but

excluded a limited portion of what was proffered as being unhelpful to the

trier of fact. Much of the allowed testimony was of the kind that Willis

found to have been properly excluded. Here, despite Yuille being unable

to offer an opinion as to whether the detective's interview technique had

actually impacted the victim's statement, the trial court allowed l~im to

testify extensively, criticizing the detective's interview as being of "poor

quality" for the use of leading questions, lack of structure, cued for not

giving G.C. an opportunity to give her version of e~Tents.

Here, the trial court precluded the proposed testimony that

Dr. Yuille had been linable to apply his Statement Validity Analysis

approach to assess the credibility of G.C.'s statement because the
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detective's interview was of such "poor quality." The court ruled that "a

nonconclusion is not helpful to the trier of fact." RP 1 i 0. The court's

ruling was entirely consistent with the precedent from Willis.

The proposed testimony was properly excluded as unhelpful to the

jury because of Dr. Yuille's inability to render an opinion based on his

Statement Validity Analysis, but there was an additional valid basis for the

exclusion. The court excluded everything from Yuille's report section

"valuating the Credibilit~~ of a Child's Allegation." The court ruled:

`Everything involving evaluating the credibility of a child's allegations,

starting on Page 3 and ending on Page 6 is excluded.... As well,

credibility being a term of art is misleading even with an explanation from

the doctor remains misleac~.ing. It is inconsistent with jury instructions as

to their determination of credibility." RP 169-70. Even had Dr. Yuille

reached an opinion a.s to the credibility of the victim's statement, such

opinion would have been inadmissible as it would -have invaded the

province of the jury. The supreme court has held that "there are some

areas which are clearly inappropriate for opinion testimony in criminal

trials. Among these are opinions, particularly expressions of personal

belief, as to the guilt of the defendant, the intent of the accused, or the

veracity of witnesses." State v. Mont~omerv, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183

P.3d 267 (2008) (citing State v. Demerv, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759-, 3C P.3d

-28-

1602-5 Morales COA



1278 (2001)). The jury in this case was properly instructed: "You are the

sole judges of the credibility of each witness," and given the factors they

should consider in weighing a witness's testimony. CP 106.

The trial court was, frankly, generous to Morales in admitting

much of Dr. ~Yuille's testimony, which shows the court's application of

discretion. It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to determine

that evidence of an expert's. inability to reach a conclusion was unhelpful

to the trier of fact. It certainly cannot be said that no reasonable court

would have done so.

c. Any Error By The Trial Court In Excluding

Dr. Yuille's Opinion Was Harmless.

Even if the trial court erred by not allowing Dr. Yuille to testify to

his nonconclusion, that he had been unable to .form an opinion as to G.C.'s

credibility because the quality of the detective's interview was so poor, the

error was harmless. Anon-constitutional error is harmless if there is not a

reasonable probability that she outcome of the trial would have been

materially affected had the error not occurred. State v. Ctulnin~m, 93

Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980). Here, there is no reasonable

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